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Local Market:

As you may be aware, real estate prices in Kuwait rose significantly
during 2013 which enabled the Board of Directors to implement their
plan of divesting of some of the company'’s real estate assets, these
assets have become attractive for divestment due to their relatively
low income and the above mentioned increases in land prices. The
first property sold was Al-Wahag Complex located in Salmiya, which
realized a profit of 700,000 KD.

With regards to other real estate development projects, the first

three phases of the redevelopment of “Pearl Marzoug” have been
completed and the company is currently working on the completion
of the final stages of the project. It is worth mentioning that this
renovation has had a strong impact on rental rates within the building,
with new units being leased at more than 200% above previous
values. Moreover, a comprehensive list has been compiled for those
interested in renting retail shops within the complex. The company
expects the retail component of the building to be close to fully
leased by the end of 2014.

As you all know, KREC was successful in securing the contracts to
manage, redevelop and operate both Souk Al-Kuwait and Souk Al-
Kabir for an additional ten year period, the final agreements for these
contracts were signed with the Ministry of Finance in October 2013.
The company is currently starting a comprehensive maintenance
and renovation program for the two multi-use complexes. Also, the
company has developed a re-pricing strategy for all the units in the
buildings which has resulted in a significant increase in their rental
income.

Arabella, one of the company’s latest projects, distinguished by
its prime location in Al-Beda area as well as its innovative design,
opened its doors to customers in July of 2013. Restaurants have
seen large turnouts since the project’s launch. The compound is
expected to be fully operational within the coming months.
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Gulf Area:

We are still monitoring the prices in the gulf market, especially

in Dubai and Manama, where KREC owns several real estate

assets including apartment units, villas and development land. The
management of the company is currently waiting for the opportunity
to dispose of some of those assets in order to recognize a profit and
reinvest in other assets with more attractive returns.

Global Market:

The Company has expanded into the British market through investing
in an industrial property leased out to L’Oreal which is expected to
achieve significant returns.

In the United States, the company has expanded its Single Tenant
Net Lease portfolio by acquiring a retail unit leased out to Walgreens
Pharmacy in Huntsville, Alabama. In addition, KREC has also
expanded its US portfolio to include multi-family assets through its
acquisition of a student housing facility in San Francisco, adjacent to
the University of California-Berkeley.

Future plans for 2014 and beyond:

The company will implement the plans established by the Board of
Directors relating to:

1) Expanding the modernization and renovation programs of
properties while increasing rental values.

2) Investing in income generating and development investments in
the European and American markets.

3) Investing in the development projects that are expected to
generate significant profits.
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In conclusion, | would like to express my thanks and appreciation to
the shareholders and clients for their continued support and
co-operation. | also would like to thank all the employees for their
efforts and continuous implementation of the company’s strategy.

Ibrahim S. Al-Therban

Chairman and Managing Director
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AQARAT REBRANDING

As you will notice in this year's edition of Kuwait Real Estate Company’s annual
report, the company has recently completed a re-branding effort and has changed
our look to reflect the changes that have been made and continue to be made
within the company.

The idea of a brand and how its stakeholders perceive it is a constant development
of updates, changes and reinvention. Our challenge was to bring meaning back to
an iconic brand that had perhaps lost some of its luster over the years.

Challenges:

Despite developing high quality projects, the old brand and appearance of the
company did not represent what the company had become. The existing logo,
while steeped in history, ceased to represent what the modern day company had
developed into.

The name of the company was not distinct enough, and it was not optimal for
international markets. Visual and messaging inconsistencies were devaluing the
brand identity.

Strategy:

Among our guiding principals in the transformation of the brand was for the new
look of the company to say as much about its future as it does about it long and
storied past. We developed a verbal and visual system that expresses this vision
through the vibrancy of Kuwait Real Estate Company’s modern day image.

Result:

Perhaps the most striking change in regards to the re-branding is the focus on the
new trade name of “AQARAT”. As many of you know, the name “AQARAT” has long
been associated with Kuwait Real Estate Company within Kuwait’s marketplace.
It is important to note that the business name of Kuwait Real Estate Company
remains in place.

The brand’s profile was sharpened and its vision refined, both with a focus on
progressiveness. Regarding the logo, the company decided to adopt a minimalist
approach. The new identity is intended to differentiate Agarat from the competition
by lending it a classic, minimalist and powerful appearance.

We developed a sophisticated, contemporary visual identity and language approach
that communicates the new positioning with the flexibility to work in a wide variety of
branding applications. Each visual approach includes comprehensive direction from
logo usage to layout and language.

Brand colors, positioning, as well as communications were also developed in the
context of the competitive landscape. The website was completely restructured, in
keeping with the new identity, to complete the brand refresh.

13
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Government Build-Operate-Transfer Contracts

AQARAT is proud to have been able
to secure a ten-year extension on its
existing BOT government contacts
for Souk Al-Kuwait as well as Souk
Al-Kabir. Since its inception in 1972,
AQARAT has been a pioneer in
developing and advancing public-
private partnerships. In fact, the first
BOT ever in existence in Kuwait, Souk
Al-Kuwait, was conceived of and
developed by AQARAT more than four
decades ago.

As part of the agreement with the
government, AQARAT will commence
a multi-phased renovation of the two
retail and office complexes in the
coming year. The renovation of the
properties will be all encompassing
and will include both aesthetic and
core disciplines. The facades of the
buildings will be renewed, elevators
and HVAC systems will be replaced,
and portions of the buildings will

14

be redeveloped into new and
exciting uses that will further
solidify these two properties as
the retail heartbeat of Kuwait
City.

Substantiating the two buildings
importance in the retail and
office landscape of the city, a
vast majority of existing tenants
in the two buildings have signed
extensions to their existing
contracts while many more
inquiries have been received
regarding office and retail space.
The buildings currently stand at
an overall occupancy of 96%.
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Expansion of Net Lease Property Portfolio :

The iconic Pearl Marzouq
residential complex is getting a
new look through a multi-phased
refurbishment project. Owned
and operated by AQARAT since
1972, Pearl Marzoug was the
first modern luxury residential
complex to be constructed in
Kuwait over a plot area of 9,026
square meters.The new design
encompasses of 16 penthouse
units and 112 three-bedroom
duplex apartment units. The
penthouses include a mix of 2BR
and 3BR units with renovation of
these units to be completed by
the first half of 2014.

AQARAT has continued to shift its international
focus from high risk developing markets to
mature markets in Western Europe and the
United States.

In 2013, AQARAT expanded its existing Net
Lease Property Portfolio in the United States
with the addition of a fourth Net Lease Property
located in Hunstville, Alabama. In addition the
expansion, AQARAT was also looking to diversify
the leaseholders. The acquired property is leased
out to Walgreens Pharmacy with a lease period
of 13 years.

AQARAT has also expanded into the UK market
by investing in an industrial property leased out to
L'Oreal through Arzan Financial Group. In March
2013, the company invested GBP 1.5 Million
for a 30% ownership in an industrial property in
Sherwood Park, Nottinghamshire UK.

The industrial property is currently leased out
to L'Oreal for a period through June 2021. The
property acquisition has been financed by equity
and debt. The company receiving monthly
distributions at 8% per annum.
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Overlooking the cerulean gaze of thr Arabian
Gulf, Pearl Marzouq is a modern architectural
beacon. Located on the tip a peninsula, the plot
is concealed from the main Gulf Road, running all
along the coast. The urban coastline along Ras
Salmiya sets the tone for its picturesque setting
and prime location, a stone’s throw away from
prestigious schools and prime shopping districts.

With renovation of the common areas and retail
areas scheduled for completion by 3rd Quarter
2014, Pearl Marzoug will again become Kuwait’s
premier residence. The building facade will also
be getting a new facelift with custom designed
cladding that will lend a modern contemporary
look to this building.

More than 75% of the renovated apartments have
already been rented out, proving the attractiveness
of the property to potential residents.
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ARABELLA

Arabella, AQARAT’s newly launched restaurant-
retail joint venture with the Al-Mousherji Group,
was greeted with rave reviews by diners as it
opened its doors in the third quarter of 2013.

The restaurant complex features over 13,000
square meters of dining and entertainment
options, with 36 indoor/outdoor units to serve as
restaurants, cafes and more.

When fully open, the complex will feature a wide
array of dining options, ranging from well-known
international brands such as The Cheesecake
Factor, Shake Shack, Red Lobster and Olive
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Garden to regional brands such
as Margarita Pizza and Lord
of the Wings as well several
exclusive local concepts only
found at Arabella.

In  February 2012, AQARAT
signed an agreement with
our partner EMCOR Facilities
Services to manage and operate
the property for 3 years. We
are confident that this will
help maintain the quality of
the property and manage the
guest experience to uphold and
exceed customer expectations.

The project was 100% leased
out well before completion of
construction and is currently
under the process of handover
to the remaining tenants.
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AQARAT recently redeveloped
the Durrar Social and Athletic
Club, a multi-use recreational
club at our Durrar Residence
Complexin Riggae. An amount of
approximately KD 100,000 was
spent to renovate and reinstate
the club for the exclusive use of
our tenants.

The Durrar Social and Athletic
Club is a private luxurious
facility aimed at providing the
best of service to our tenants.
The services provided by the
Club include the use of a gym,
two full-sized swimming pools,
a children’s pool, table tennis,
billiards as well as two tennis
courts and three squash courts.
The club also has a party hall
to cater to events and provides
various aerobic classes to
members.

The club has been operational
since Dec 2013 and is managed
by the company.
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Emad Al-Essa
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Emad Al-Essa has held the post of Chief Executive Officer of Kuwait
Real Estate Company (AQARAT) since 2009. He has a long history within the
company and an unrivaled reputation as a successful leader spanning three
decades in executive level positions. During his tenure, the company has
made great strides, both in regards to management restructuring as well as
financial performance.

Beginning his career in 1986, he was initially appointed to the position of
Investment Analyst at Pearl Investment Company, which was, at the time,
the investment arm of AQARAT. During his time at Pearl, he was responsible
for overseeing a KD 120 million portfolio of international properties. The
company held significant hospitality, industrial, commercial and residential
assets spanning the Middle East, Europe and North America.

After having been promoted to Investment Manager in 1993, Mr. Al Essa
was responsible for growing Pearl’s asset portfolio by over 40% in the span
of four years. He was also was responsible for overseeing the decoupling of
Pearl and AQARAT prior to his leaving the company in 1997.

Following his departure from Pearl, Mr. Al-Essa was appointed to the position
of Investment Manager at Kuwait Real Estate Company, where he was
instrumental in growing and diversifying the company’s investment portfolio.
Through investments in various sectors, including the food industry, the
company was able to expand its portfolio into lucrative businesses, some of
which are still maintained to this day.

In 2005, Mr. Al-Essa left to become one of the founders of Agar Real Estate
Company where he was appointed as General Manager. In his four years
as GM, he was responsible for acquiring and developing a portfolio of
residential assets in Kuwait that grew to over KD 45 million in value.

Rejoining AQARAT in 2009 as Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Al-Essa’s initial
task was the restructuring of the staff and management team. That was
accomplished through his appointment of new heads of departments,
including Investments & Acquisitions, Facilities Management, Real Estate
Development, Finance and Human Resources. His next undertaking as CEO
was the restructuring of the company’s debt structure. In 2010, in the midst
of the international real estate and bank liquidity crisis, Mr. Al-Essa was able
to secure corporate debt in excess of KD 50 million.

During his first 18 months in office, he was able to reduce the company’s
operating budget by more than 50% by identifying redundancies and
increasing operational efficiencies. Since his appointment to the post of
CEQO, the company has seen its asset base grow from KD 164 million in
2010 to over KD 186 million in 2013 and its market capitalization increase
by 67% in the same timeframe.
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Fahad Al-Shamlan
Investment & Acquisitions Manager

Mr. Fahad Al-Shamlan currently serves as the Investment & Acquisitions
Manager at Kuwait Real Estate Company. Throughout his career, Mr. Al-
Shamlan has over 12 years of international investment and development
expertise and has worked on projects with an overall valuation exceeding
KD 1.5 billion in a multitude of regions ranging from the Middle East, North
America, the Carribean, Southeast Asia and Southern Africa.

During this time, he has been based in five different locations, including
Miami, Florida, USA, Dubai-UAE, Bangkok-Thailand, Durban-South Africa,
Beirut-Lebanon and Kuwait City-Kuwait. Mr. Al-Shamlan’s comprehensive
academic background includes an undergraduate degree in Architecture
(B-ARCH 2000) and an MBA in Finance and International Business (MBA-
2004), both from the University of Miami. He has diverse experience
managing large-scale real estate acquisition and development projects.

Mr. Al-Shamlan began his career at Forbes Architects in Miami, FL as an
architectural draftsman, he was subsequently elevated to the position of
Associate Project Manager within eight months, where he led the design
and development team for several projects. His accomplishments included
leading project programming teams that included design professionals,
contractors, and partners; forming world-class design teams, managing
vendor contracts and relationships as well as setting construction contract
budgets. Mr. Al-Shamlan initiated new construction management procedures
for the company, employing more sophisticated construction methodologies
into commercial development projects. While at Forbes, his clients included
American Express, FedEx, American Classic Voyages, Government Services
Administration (GSA), Colonial Bank, Allstate Insurance, Ryder Systems,
Union Planters Bank, United Parcel Services, and Florida International
University, among others.

Upon receiving his MBA in 2004, he joined Global Destinations Development
LLC in Miami, FL. Established in 2001, Global Destinations is an independent
real estate development firm and consultancy specializing in the financing,
planning and development of Caribbean resort hotels and cruise ship
destinations. The firm partners with international hotel brands, luxury
cruise lines, and private equity. His responsibilities at Global encompassed
consultancy in feasibility, finance, deal structuring, design & branding, and
political economy & risk assessment. Clients and partners included Lehman
Brothers, Hilton Hotels Corp., Government of Canada, Government of
Bahamas, Government of Turks and Caicos, Government of Aruba, Carnival
Ports Corp., Royal Caribbean Ltd. as well as a host of others.

Mr. Al-Shamlan’s most recent experience has been with a variety of
organizations that fall under the IFA Group of Companies. In May 2008, he
joined IFA Hotels & Resorts, a Dubai-based real estate investment company
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specializing in high-end resorts and accompanying branded residential real
estate as Investment & Acquisitions Manager. He was brought aboard with
the intent of establishing an acquisitions pipeline to North America as well
as to expand the company’s assets in Asia.

Upon the collapse of Lehman Brothers and the onset of the global financial
crisis in September 2008, Mr. Al-Shamlan was relocated to Bangkok,
Thailand in order to spearhead the financial and operational reorganization
of Raimon Land PLC, a listed company on the Bangkok Stock Exchange
that was controlled by the IFA Group. While assisting in managing the
reorganization of Raimon Land PLC, the company was able to restructure
over KD 60 million in debt, divest of over KD 25 million worth of assets, and
reduce operating costs by 55%.

Subsequent to the completion of his assignment in Bangkok, and in part
due to his previous background as an architect, he was seconded to
Durban, South Africa in order to facilitate the completion of construction
on the Fairmont Zimbali Resort prior to the opening of the 2010 World Cup.
Following the successful opening of the Fairmont Zimbali Resort, Mr. Al-
Shamlan was relocated to Beirut, Lebanon to expedite the opening of the
first phase of the Al-Abadiyah Hills resort in Bhamdoun, a KD 43 million
master-planned development which includes villas, condominiums, and a
Kempinski Resort.

Most recently, in February of 2011, Mr. Al-Shamlan was appointed to the
position of Investment & Acquisitions Manager at AQARAT, the oldest listed
real estate company on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. In his current position,
he oversees an overall portfolio with a value of over KD 186 million that
consists of a mix of income producing residential, retail and office assets as
well as a significant land bank spanning the Middle East, Europe and North
America. Since joining the firm, he has led the expansion of the company’s
asset base in mature markets including Europe and the United States
in order to counteract the effect of the instability caused by the political
upheaval in the Middle East. In this time, Mr. Al-Shamlan has been able
to convert previously held, non-performing assets into a portfolio of single
tenant retail assets currently yielding an unleveraged return in excess of 8%
and which has already seen capital gains in excess of 20%. The company is
poised to grow the portfolio in the coming year with the planned acquisition
and development of a series of additional properties throughout the US in a
variety of sectors.

During Mr. Al-Shamlan’s time as head of the investment and acquisitions
department, the company’s market capitalization has more than doubled to
over KD 90 million, and its asset base has grown by approximately KD 20
million in the same time frame.
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Eng. Abdul Aziz Al-Meajel
Real Estate Design & Development Manager

Eng. Abdul Aziz Al-Meajel graduated from Kuwait Engineering and Petroleum
University, with a Bachelor of Architecture degree in 2003. He has been a
member of Kuwait Engineers Society since 2004.

He has over 10 years of professional experience in the design, construction,
and management of real estate development projects. He has worked
passionately on various residential, commercial and service rendering
projects of value ranging from KD 6 Million to KD 12 Million.

He began his professional career working for an engineering firm in Kuwait,
where he managed all of the architectural and engineering aspects of real
estate development projects. He joined Kuwait Real Estate Company
(AQARAT) in 2010 and currently heads the Real Estate Design & Development
team that serves as AQARAT's engineering arm, directing the realization of its
innovative projects. He is responsible for ensuring effective management of
design and construction of development projects in the company, certifying
the fulfilment of the project’s technical requirements as well as conformance
to quality, schedule and cost.

His recent experience has focused on the design, construction and
management of renovation of high-value residential, and commercial projects,
with the objective of preserving the company’s landmark properties while
upgrading them for modern use. Through this assignment, he demonstrated
that the investment value of the company’s existing landmark assets in the
prime locations could be increased by retooling the project with modern
amenities and technological innovation, by increasing the visual appeal and
structural stability, by using sophisticated finishing materials that would
integrate well with old structure, by implementing smart building automation
systems, and at the same time retaining and safeguarding the qualities,
traditions and heritage that have made them endearing landmarks. He has
strived to support all aspects of the company’s delivery of successful real
estate products, enriching the company’s project portfolio.
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Mohammed Al-Hamad
Human Resources & Administration Manager

Mr. Mohammed Al-Hamad is one of the most tenured members of the
AQARAT management team. Joining the company in 1996, he has over 20
years of diverse experience within large-scale organizations and more than
12 years of experience in Human Resources, Training & Development and
Management Re-staffing. He is a highly motivated professional that is adept
at sourcing qualified talent in medium-to-large corporations in both the
public and private sectors. He completed his Bachelors of Commerce from
The Advanced Academy, Cairo, Egypt in 2009, and holds a Management
Diploma Certificate from the Commerce College, Kuwait (1990).

In 2011, Mr. Al-Hamad became the first ever Human Resources Manager
appointed to the AQARAT management team. Since joining the firm, he has
excelled in establishing policies and procedures that meet both the corporate
and staff needs. He has been able to successfully retain talent and decrease
employee costs as well as identify critical issues facing the human resources
department and implement effective solutions to those problems. He has
always been passionate about people and development and has shown
the ability to facilitate change in individuals and teams. He has excelled in
empowering management to increase the emotional commitment and effort
of their employees and helping them to develop a clear and shared vision
that all levels of personnel take ownership of and in turn make improvements
in areas such as productivity, teamwork, communication and morale.

His initial task in the department was to assists the executives of the
company in establishing a clearer and more defined organizational chart
that would help the company achieve its ambitious plans for the future. Mr.
Al-Hamad’s most significant achievement since becoming HR manager has
been the complete overhaul of the payroll and human resource management
system. The new software has allowed both management and employees to
streamline a varied amount of requests and approvals, saving the company
time and capital.

In addition to his duties, Mr. Al-Hamad is also assigned to follow up with
shareholders’ inquires the coordination of the general assemblies of the
company.
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Eng. Naser Al-Bader
Facilities Manger

Engineer Naser Al-Bader, head of the Facilities Management Department at
AQARAT, has been with the company since 2009. With a BS in Mechanical
Engineering and a MS in Engineering Management, both from Northeastern
University, he has over 10 years of experience in the fields of electromechanical
engineering and facilities management throughout the GCC.

Beginning his career in 2003, Eng. Naser joined Drake & Scull International
(DSI), a regional market leader in providing integrated design, engineering
and const ruction services. Upon his appointment to the position of
Procurement Engineer in Dubai, UAE, Eng. Naser was tasked with reviewing
and commenting on a range of documents including MEP drawings, BOQs
and specifications within the contracts, as well as Bid Tender Documents.

In 2004, while seconded to DSI Kuwait, Eng. Naser was involved in securing
a KD 6 million electromechanical contract for the development of the Kuwait
State Audit Bureau headquarters. Initially appointed to the position of Junior
Site Mechanical Engineer, his responsibilities included full composite diagram
reviews, producing as-built drawings, value engineering of contracts,
government relations and all site inspections. Within 14 months, Eng. Naser
was appointed as Acting Project Manager for the site.

Upon his return to Dubai in 2006, he was assigned to work on Fairmont-
The Palm, a 381-key luxury resort located on the iconic Palm Jumeirah. In
his capacity as Associate Business Development Manager, Eng. Naser’s
responsibilities included full electromechanical review and implementation
as well as financial reporting responsibilities.

In 2006, Eng. Naser joined EMCOR Facilities Management Group in Dubai,
a subsidiary of EMCOR Group, a Fortune 500 company and global leader in
mechanical and electrical construction, industrial and energy infrastructure,
and facilities services. Eng. Naser’s responsibilities as Deputy Operations
Manager included contract overview, value engineering, delivering key
performance indicators (KPIs) through service level agreements (SLAs) and
advanced monitoring methods.

While at EMCOR, he was involved in the development of a multitude of
facilities management projects in the UAE, including Dubai Festival City, First
Resorts Facilities Management (covering the Palm Jumeirah) and Concordia
Facilitie s Management (covering Jumeirah Lakes Towers). He was also
instrumental in signing the facilities management agreement for Abu Dhabi
Mall, a project he would end up heading.

Following his assignmentin Dubai, Eng. Naser spearheaded the establishment
of EMCOR Kuwait, the first comprehensive facilities management provider in
the country. Serving as Acting General Manager and Business Development
Manager, he was able to secure the first official facilities management
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contract in Kuwait in both the government and private sector. His portfolio
included an 8-month transition contract for Avenues Mall, the largest retail
complex in Kuwait. Eng. Naser was also active in securing a five-year, multi-
million KD contract for EMCOR to manage the facilities of the Kuwait State
Audit Bureau, a 200,000 square meter state-of-the art facility that was a
pioneer in integrated cooling solutions in the region.

Appointed to head the Facilities Management Department at AQARAT in
2009, Eng. Naser has been responsible for managing all of AQARATs income
producing property portfolio within Kuwait. Initially tasked with reviewing the
FM budget for the company, Eng. Naser was able to reduce the overall
annual facilities management budget by more than 50% in his first year. He
was able to do this by recognizing staffing redundancies and reducing every
existing maintenance contract the company had entered into, specifically
with regards to soft services, which saw a KD 250,000 in annual savings.

In transitioning from restructuring the FM department to improving day-to-day
operations, Eng. Naser has turned his focus to technological improvement
within the facilities management process. Among the improvements he
has made has been the implementation of the Computer Aided Facilities
Management System (CAFM), the transitioning of all reactive maintenance
processes to planned preventative maintenance, launching the company’s
centralized call center and establishing both energy and waste management
strategies which commenced in 2013 and will begin to pay significant saving
dividends beginning in 2015.
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Hamad Al-Mulaifi
Sales & Marketing Manager

Mr. Hamad Al-Mulaifi serves as the Sales & Marketing Manager at AQARAT,
a position he has held since joining the company in 2012. His academic
background includes a Bachelor of Science in Marketing from the Lebanese
American University; he has also recently completed the Oxford Programme
on Negotiation from Said Business School, Oxford University.

Mr. Al-Mulaifi began his career at IFA Hotels & Resorts, based in Kuwait,
where he served as Senior Sales Executive. Among his accomplishments
at IFA, he was responsible for securing and increasing sales significantly for
products including high-end residential, fractional, timeshare and condo-
hotel units as well as niche product segments such as fractional private jet
and yacht ownership. This experience has assisted him in advising clients
in regards to tailoring specific real estate portfolios for their investments.
His experience at IFA was able to afford him with a background in varied
markets, including Dubai, Bangkok and Beirut.

While Mr. Al-Mulaifi’'s proficiency prior to joining AQARAT was in high-end,
exclusive real estate, he has been able to parlay that experience into the
company’s more varied product line. Upon the execution of the extension
of AQARAT's two BOT contracts with the Kuwaiti government, Mr. Al-Mulaifi
was able to increase rental revenue across the office, retail and parking
components of the company.

Across AQARAT’s entire portfolio, Mr. Al-Mulaifi’s tenure as head of the
department has experienced the largest growth in rental revenue the
company has seen in recent history. The company’s residential portfolio of
assets has seen a significant revenue increase, while the office and retail
portfolio have also experienced a significant revenue increases since his
appointment to the post.

In additi on to his responsibilities as head of the Sales & Marketing
Department, he has also been tasked with leading the company’s client
relationship management effort by acting as a liaison between the AQARAT's
management and its tenants. With his ability to work closely with tenants of
different socio-economic backgrounds, Mr. Al-Mulaifi has been able to tend
to core customer complaints while maintaining his focus on financial targets.
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Jayram Viswanathan
Financial Controller

Mr. Jayram Viswanathan is a Chartered Accountant from the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India and has a Bachelor of Commerce from the
University of Bombay with over 17 years work experience. He commenced
his career as an Audit Supervisor with Price Waterhouse Coopers, Bombay
in 1995.

This was followed by an 8 year stint, starting in 1996, with Ford Credit
India (a joint venture between Ford Credit USA and Kotak Bank) in the
business of Retail & Wholesale Financing wherein he was responsible for
establishing policies & procedures and the Internal Audit function. He then
moved to a Systems Implementation assignment with Ford Credit Australia
and was subsequently appointed Treasury Manager. He eventually went on
to become Financial Controller & Compliance Officer.

In 2005, he moved on to Bajaj Allianz Life Insurance Company, Pune, India’s
second largest Life Insurance Company in the private sector, as Associate
Vice President — Finance where he was responsible for Financial Budgeting,
Planning and Reporting to Regulatory Authorities along with implementing
Business Process and Systems changes

In 2006, he was recruited by National Bank of Kuwait as Group CFO of
Investmen t Services and Treasury Group and subsequently internally
transferred to NBK Capital as Associate Vice President Finance. Key focus
areas in the assignment were to support operational, accounting and
financial aspects of the Asset Management & Broking Business, manage
the accounting, reporting, planning & budgeting of NBK Capital and three
individual NBK subsidiaries as well as monitoring the Investment portfolio
of NBK Capital to ensure compliance with investment committee policies/
guidelines

In 2008 he joined National Technology Enterprises Company, a 100%
subsidiary of Kuwait Investment Authority (KIA), in the business of Venture
Capital and Incubation of local technology projects as CFO with responsibility
for all aspects of the Finance function besides providing inputs on Investment
proposals as a member of the Investment Review Committee.

He currently serves as Financial Controller at Kuwait Real Estate Company
(AQARAT) , since 2012, where his responsibilities include Budgeting,
Planning, Cash Flow Management, Accounting, Financial Analysis, Reporting
Compliance with regulatory matters, handling banking relationships, System
implementation, managing Statutory & Internal auditors and providing inputs
on IFRS reporting.
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BDO o Grant Thornton

—— Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners
Al Johara Tower, 6" Floor Auditors & Consultants
Khaled Ben Al Waleed Street, Sharq Sougq Al Kabeer Building - Block A - 9th Floor
P.O. Box 25578, Safat 13116 Kuwait Tel: (965) 2244 3900-9
Tel : +965 2242 6999 Fax: (965) 2243 8451
Fax : +965 2240 1666 P.O. Box: 2986, Safat 13030 - Kuwait
www.bdo.com.kw E-mail: gt@gtkuwait.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. STATE OF KUWAIT

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Kuwait Real Estate Company
K.P.S.C. (“the Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Parent Company’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The management is also responsible for the internal control necessary for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT
REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. STATE OF KUWAIT. (CONTINUED)

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated

financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2013, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Matters

In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the consolidated
financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors
relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that we
obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the
consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No. 25
of 2012, as amended and by the Parent Company’s Articles and Memorandum of Association, as amended,
that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of
the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, as amended or of the Parent Company’s Articles and Memorandum of
Association, as amended, have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2013 that might have had a
material effect on the business or the consolidated financial position of the Group.

_____________-‘—'_.;\_3

Qais M. Al Nisf
License No. 38 “A”
BDO Al Nisf & Partners

Abdullatif M. Al-Aiban (CF‘A)

Licence No. 94 “A”

Grant Thornton — Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban &
Partners

Kuwait: 20 March 2014
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KUWAIT REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATE OF KUWAIT

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2013

Assets
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment

Projects in progress 63,502
Investment properties 112,781,965
Investments in associates 7,738,035
Available for sale investments 48,909,057
Current assets

Balances due from associates 11

Advance payment for purchase of investment property 12

Due from related parties 13

Accounts receivables and other debt balances 14

Investment at fair value through statement of income

Term deposits 15

Cash and cash equivalents 16

Total assets
Equity and liabilities

Equity

Share capital 17 90,671,294
Share premium 17 3,425,191
Treasury shares 18 (208,149)
Treasury shares reserve 2,298,155
Statutory reserve 19 13,148,203
Voluntary reserve 19 992,048
Foreign currency translation reserve 44,789
Fair value reserve 6,747,145
Retained earnings

Total equity

Non-current liabilities

Credit facilities 20 25,000,000
Term loan 21 4,353,000
Provision for lease commitment 22 5,664,206
Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity 583,970
Other provisions 471,300
36,072.476
Current liabilities
Credit facilities 20 11,333,333
Term loan 21 582,000
Due to related parties 13 86,312
Accounts payable and other credit balances 23 9,083,750
Provision for lease commitment 22 4,594,875
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
|

The notes set out on pages 41 to 84 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Ibrahim Saleh. Al-Therban
Chairman and Managing Director
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2012
KD

66,557
144,321
105,468,940
7,370,850
45,647,155
158,697,823

7,792,875
3,428,226
1,266,198
1,435,648
29,545
4,622,700
18,475,192
177,173,015

90,671,294
3,425,191
(208,149)
2,298,155
12,439,812
283,657
29,682
2,888,318
2,168,480
113,996,440

36,333,333
4,935,000
9,979,821

697,047
1,267,317

53,212,518

1,333,333
291,000
32,654
8,307,070

9,964,057

63,176,575

177,173,016
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KUWAIT REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATE OF KUWAIT

Consolidated statement of income
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Revenues

Rental income
Operating costs
Net rental income

Profit on sale of investment properties
Change in fair value of investment properties
Share of results of associates

Profit on sale of investment in associates
Profit on sale of available for sale investments
Impairment of available for sale investments
Unrealised gain/( loss) on investments at fair value through statement of income
Dividends income

Foreign exchange gain

Interest income

Other income

Reversal of provisions no longer needed

Expense and other charges

General and administrative expenses
Provision for doubtful debts
Provision for loss in an associate
Finance costs

Provision for contingent liabilities

Profit for the year before contribution to KFAS, NLST and Zakat

KFAS

NLST

Provision for Zakat

Directors’ remuneration

Profit for the year

Basic and diluted earnings per share (fils)

The notes set out on pages 41 to 84 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

24

25

26

11,808,212
(6,598,250)
6,209,962

1,425,413
6,461,857
581,559

412,454
(6,380,095)
43,046
389,789
13,717
55,807
104,734
1,623,681

919,630
277,967
262,817

(177,098)
(70,839)
(70,000)

2012
KD

11,417,650

7,461,740

598,810
147,224
18,314
335,776
(2,179,265)
(27,591)
348,217
18,397
181,918
61,312

907,556
146,624
208,483
2,418,594

1,788,595

(12,460)
(36,177)
(13,305

(3,955,910)

6,964,852

1,500,000
5,176,257
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KUWAIT REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATE OF KUWAIT

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Items that are or maybe reclassified subsequently in the consolidated statement of
income:
Available for sale investments:
Change in fair value
Transferred to consolidated statement of income on sale
Transferred to consolidated statement of income on impairment
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

6,702,218

(2,454,111)
(67,157)
6,380,095
15,107

| 10,576,152 |

2

The notes set out on pages 41 to 84 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1,726,653

(8,267,253)
(335,776)
2,179,265
29,682
(1,394,082)
332,571
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Retained
earnings

Fair value
reserve

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

Share Treasury Treasury Statutory Voluntary
shares shares reserve reserve reserve

premium

Share capital

KUWAIT REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATE OF KUWAIT

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2013

40

818 8|5 g KUWAIT REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
g1 8 3|8 g STATE OF KUWAIT
(] — - ()
= = - Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2013
8 8 9|8
3| g g =ls Notes 2012
R R R o8| = KD KD
T - - o Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 6,702,218 1,726,653
Adjustments for:
g % g g 2 Depreciation 45,549 24,058
~ o N o Finance costs 2,397,600 2,413,594
3_ o g g % Profit from sale of investment properties 8 (1,425,413) -
© = = = o Change in fair value of investment properties 8 (6,461,857) (598,810)
Share of results of associates 9 (581,559) (147,224)
o | o N Profit on sale of investment in associates o (18,314)
Q Q Q Profit on sale of available for sale investments (412,454) (335,776)
&5 2 g’ Impairment of available for sale investments 10 6,380,095 2,179,265
Unrealized (gain)/loss from investments at fair value through statement of income (43,046) 27,591
Provision for doubtful debts 277,967 146,624
Dividends income (389,789) (348,217)
. . . Interest income (55,807) (181,918)
o g B Reversal of provisions no longer needed 24 (1,623,681) B
E)F ’c\d g’ Provision for loss in an associate 262,817 208,483
- - 39 Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity 39,678 127,311
Provision for lease commitment 22 2,782,669 2,101,015
7,894,987 7,324,330
“~ o . Working capital changes:
8 8 b Balances due from associates 603,910 (653,953)
8 ’c\o’ %i Advance payment for purchase of investment property - (3,428,226)
N - ~. Accounts receivables and other debt balances (509,840) (371,176)
o o Investment at fair value through statement of income - 181,994
Accounts payable and other credit balances 614,875 2,896,874
. - % Due from/ to related parties 462,401 (4,351,369)
o © @ Provision for lease commitment paid (2,503,409) B
gg' %o; 5 Other provisions 22,026
g x g Payment of employees end of service indemnity 88,155
s Net cash flows from operating activities 1,632,345
2 Investing activities
. . g Purchase of plant & equipment (82,415) (50,732)
2 2 3 Payment for projects in progress (961,224) (771,217)
e ) © Purchase of investment properties (1,212,470) (2,237,383)
8 8 % Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 6,225,413 -
g Purchase of investment in associates - (140,543)
&) Proceeds from sale of investments in associates - 59,998
— — % Dividends received from associates 9 214,374 35,488
=2 =2 S Purchase of available for sale investments (6,465,762) (624,806)
9 < E Proceeds from sale of available for sale investments 1,095,046 1,231,374
3 s g Term deposits 15 (4,998,337) -
= Dividends received 389,789 348,217
GB; Interest received 55,807 181,918
- - < Net cash used in investing activities 1,967,686
I I s Financing activities
ri ,t € Net change in credit facilities (1,333,334)
& b= 8 Net change in term loans 5,226,000
® = 3 Finance costs paid 2,413,594,
2 Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities 1,479,072
o E © o > s Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,110,339) 1,043,731
S ] g 5 = 5 g 5 é Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 16 4,522,700 3,478,969
f; E 2 -g C; . < 2 -CE> g Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 16 4,522,700
g z = g 8 g 22 2 g 8 5 )
£ :fﬁ S g g 8 5 g = 5 é 5 qg) 8 = Non cash transactlpns
: 2 ﬁ S 2 5 : = @: S o 2 5 E Investment properties 3,428,226 -
= g gg 5§ 5 = = E gg ag é = 3 Available for sale investments 2,454,111 -
8 8 S ; % q? & 8 8 8 85 %é kol N § Advance payment for purchase of investment property 3,428,226 -
§ & 58S g 2 5o s £ 85 59 2 839 e
5] S £5 55 & WO 5} S £0 38 § WS @ )
m a 0L FL F oQ m o O& F= F OAQ = The notes set out on pages 41 to 84 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KUWAIT REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATE OF KUWAIT

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

1.

Incorporation and activities

Kuwait Real Estate Company “Parent Company” was incorporated in Kuwait on 1972 as a Kuwaiti
K.P.S.C. shareholding company in accordance with the Companies Law in the State of Kuwait. The
Parent Company'’s shares are listed on Kuwait Stock Exchange.

The Group comprises the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (together referred as “the group”). The
details of the subsidiaries are noted in Note 5.1.

The Parent Company’s principal activities are as follows:

1. Undertaking various real estate activities with the target to generate profit i.e. selling, purchase,
rental and lease of land and buildings, establishing buildings and preparing the studies of private
and public real estate projects and executing them either directly by the company or by third party
inside or outside Kuwait.

2. Carry out various construction types and related works whether for its account or for the account
of others as well as importing and trading in all materials related to real estate or necessary
thereto.

3. Investment in shares of companies and projects which are similar to the purposes of the company
or the management of such companies and projects and direct them for the interest of the
company.

4. Investment in portfolios managed by specialized managers.

5. Building houses whether for citizens, state employees or official or private bodies in return for
obtaining their value from them either in cash or in instalments.

6. Carry out all contracting activities in general, either directly or in partnership with other contracting
companies or representing them.

7. Managing the properties of others inside and outside Kuwait.

8. The establishment of combined markets and shopping centers, entertainment centers and
managing or leasing them and generally the business related to real estate.

On 26 November 2012, the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012 has been issued and published in the
official gazette on 29 November 2012 to replace the Commercial Companies Law No. 15 of 1960.
Subsequently on 28 March 2013, the Companies’ Law has been amended by virtue of Law Decree
No. 97 of 2013 (“Decree”).

In accordance with article No. (2) and (3) of the Decree, the executive regulations which issued by
the Minister of Commerce and Industry and published in the official gazette on 6 October 2013
determine the basis and rules to be applied by the Company to adjust its status according to the
Companies’ Law, as amended during one year from the published date.

The address of the Parent Company’s registered office is P.O. Box 1257, Safat 13013, Kuwait

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 were
authorised for issuance by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors on March 20, 2014 and are
subject to the approval of the General Assembly of shareholders. The Parent Company’s shareholders
have the right to amend these consolidated financial statements in the Annual General Assembly.
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KUWAIT REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATE OF KUWAIT

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2.

a)

42

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared under historical cost
convention except for investments at fair value through statement of income, available for sale
investments and investment properties that have been measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”) which is the
functional currency of the Parent Company.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) and applicable requirements of Ministerial Order No. 18 of 1990.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
New standards and amendments effective 1 January 2013

A number of new standards and amendments effective for the first time for periods beginning on (or
after) 1 January 2013, have been adopted in these financial statements. The nature and effect of
each standard and amendment adopted by the Group is set below:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements- amendments

The amendments to IAS 1 require items of other comprehensive income to be grouped into
two categories in the other comprehensive income section: (a) items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
when specific conditions are met. The amendment affects presentation only and has no impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial position or performance. The Group has made this disclosure in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

IAS 1 Clarification of the requirement for comparative information- amendment

These amendments clarify the difference between voluntary additional comparative information and
the minimum required comparative information. An entity must include comparative information in
the related notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative information
beyond the minimum required comparative period. ~ The amendments clarify that the opening
statement of financial position presented as a result of retrospective restatement or reclassification
of items in financial statements does not have to be accompanied by comparative information in the
related notes. The amendment has no impact on the presentation or Group’s financial position or
performance.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011) (Effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests
in Other Entities, IAS 28 Investments in Associates, has been renamed IAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes the application of the equity method to investments in
joint ventures in addition to associates.
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KUWAIT REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATE OF KUWAIT

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

4.
a)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures ( continued )
New standards and amendments effective 1 January 2013 (continued)

The Standard defines ‘significant influence’ and provides guidance on how the equity method of
accounting is to be applied (including exemptions from applying the equity method in some cases).
It also prescribes how investments in associates and joint ventures should be tested for impairment.

The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance on adoption.

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets - Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment
of Assets

These amendments remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 on the disclosures required
under IAS 36. In addition, these amendments require disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the
assets or CGUs for which impairment loss has been recognised or reversed during the period. These
amendments are effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
with earlier application permitted, provided IFRS 13 is also applied. The Group has early adopted
these amendments to IAS 36 in the current period since the amended/additional disclosures provide
useful information as intended by the IASB.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures — Amendments

These amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off and related
arrangements (e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users with information
that is useful in evaluating the effect of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The
new disclosures are required for all recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance
with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also apply to recognised financial
instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement,
irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with IAS 32. These amendments did not impact
the Group’s consolidated financial position or performance.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 replaces the parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that deal with
consolidated financial statements and of SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. Under
IFRS 10, there is only one basis for consolidation, that is, control. In addition, IFRS 10 includes a new
definition of control that contains three elements: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to use its power over the
investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. The adoption of this standard has not resulted
in any significant impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that have interests in subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the current standards. The adoption of
this standard has resulted in an additional disclosure in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group (note 5.1 and 9).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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4.
a)

b)
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Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (Continued)
New standards and amendments effective 1 January 2013 (continued)
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (continued)

As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 and IFRS 12; IAS 28 has been renamed IAS 28 “Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures”, and describes the application of the equity method to investments
in joint ventures in addition to associates. The adoption of this standard has not resulted in any
significant impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about
fair value measurements. IFRS 13 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value,
and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The Group expects that certain amounts
disclosed in the financial statements as a result of application of this standard shall be affected in
addition to more extensive disclosures. The adoption of this standard has resulted in an additional
disclosure in the consolidated financial statements of the Group (note 31).

The adoption of the above new standards and amendments did not have any significant impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

The other amendments to IFRS which are effective for annual account period starting from 1 January
2013 didn’t have any material impact on the accounting policies, financial position or performance
of the Group.

Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements are discussed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards
if applicable, when they become effective.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - Amendments

The amendments to IAS 32 clarify existing application issues relating to the offset of financial assets
and financial liabilities requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently
has a legally enforceable right of set-off’. The amendments to IFRS 7 require entities to disclose
information about rights of offset and related arrangements.

The amendments to IAS 32 are not effective until annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014, with retrospective application required.

Investment Entities (amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27)

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 provide
an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment
entity under IFRS 10. The exception to consolidation requires investment entities to account for
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. It is not expected that this amendment would be
relevant to the Group, since none of the entities in the Group would qualify to be an investment entity
under IFRS 10.
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KUWAIT REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATE OF KUWAIT

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

4.
b)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (Continued)
Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ (Revised effective date open until all other outstanding phases of
IFRS 9 have been finalised)

The standard addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and
financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and amended in October 2010 and November
2013. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial
instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories: those
measured as at fair value and those measured at amortised cost. The determination is made at initial
recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial
instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities,
the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the
fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own
credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this
creates an accounting mismatch.

IFRS 9 is the first part of phase 1 of this project. The main phases are:
Phase 1: Classification and Measurement

Phase 2: Impairment Methodology

Phase 3: Hedge Accounting

In addition, a separate project is dealing with de-recognition.

Significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of consolidated financial statements
are set out below:

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Parent Company
and entities controlled by the Parent Company (its subsidiaries) as at 31 December 2013.  Where
the Parent Company has control over an investee, it is classified as a subsidiary. The Group controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure to
variable returns from the investee, and the ability of the investor to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be
a change in any of these elements of control.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries (continued)

De-facto control exists in situations where the Parent Company has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee without holding the majority of the voting rights. In determining
whether de-facto control exists the Parent Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances,
including:

e The size of the parent company’s voting rights relative to both the size and dispersion of other
parties who hold voting rights.

e Substantive potential voting rights held by the Parent Company and by other parties.

e Other contractual arrangements.

e Historic patterns in voting attendance.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of business combinations using the
acquisition method. In the consolidated statement of financial position, the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are initially recognised at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The results of acquired operations are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the date on which control is obtained. They are deconsolidated from the date on which
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity
holders of the Parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting
policies. The consolidated financial statements present the results of the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries as if they are formed a single entity. All intra-Group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

e Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
e Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;

e Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

* Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

e Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

e Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;

Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to consolidated
statement of income or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

Details of subsidiary companies are set out below:

Country
Equity interest of

incorporation
2013 2012

Subsidiary name Principal activities

Producer of
industrial marble

Kuwait Industrial Marble Manufacturing

% 9 i
~KSC (Closed) 56.73% 56.73% Kuwait

100% 100% Ugfi?ﬂi:’cfs Investment

Habara Pearl Farm Company —
American Shareholding Company

Al-Agdain Real Estate Company —

KSC (Closed) Kuwait Real estate

During the year 2011, the Group recorded an impairment loss amounting to KD106,284, representing
the full amount of the Parent Company’s investment in Kuwait Industrial Marble Manufacturing
Company, accordingly, the investment have been included in the parent company’s books at an
amount of one Kuwaiti Dinar.

During the year the Group finalized the incorporation of their newly 96% owned subsidiary Al-Aqdain
Real Estate Company — KSC (Closed) with share capital of KD 2,000,000. The company did not
contribute in the statement of income since it had not started its operations yet.

Business combinations

Combinations of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
or assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and equity instruments issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally expensed
as incurred. At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed and
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations
are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at
its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwiill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is
classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not measured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with
IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized immediately in
consolidated statement of income as a bargain purchase gain.

If the initial accounting for business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period
in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period
(see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in consolidated statement of income.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to consolidated statement of income
where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when payments are being made.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The following
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Rental income

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognized when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognized on accrual basis using the effective interest method

Gain or loss in sale of properties and investment securities

Recognized when the sale transaction is consummated.

Finance costs

Finance costs are calculated and recognised on a time proportionate basis taking into account the
principal finance balance outstanding and the income/cost rate applicable.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. Other lease contracts are classified as operating
leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the current value estimated for the minimum of amounts paid for lease. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a
finance lease obligation. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are initially recognised at acquisition cost or manufacturing cost, including any
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by the Group’s management.

Plant and equipment are subsequently measured using the cost model, cost less subsequent
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis to write
down the cost less estimated residual value of plant and equipment. The useful life and depreciation
method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are consistent
with the expected pattern of economic benefits arising from items of plant and equipment.

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least
annually.

When assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from
the accounts and any gain or loss resulting from their disposal is recognised in the consolidated
statement of income.

Projects in progress

Incurred costs are charged to construction or production of capital assets under projects in progress
till construction or production of these assets is complete, at which time it is reclassified as plant and
equipment, investment property, or trading properties. Costs include all direct costs and other costs
attributable on reasonable basis.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are
accounted for using the fair value model.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequently,
investment properties are revalued annually and are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position at their fair values. These values are supported by market evidence and are determined by
external professional valuers with sufficient experience with respect to both the location and the
nature of the investment property.

Any gain or loss resulting from either a change in the fair value or the sale of an investment property is
immediately recognised in consolidated statement of income within change in fair value of investment
property.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer
from investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting
is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under plant and
equipment up to the date of change in use.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment in associates

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which
are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures. Significant influence in the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for
using the equity method. Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s share in
the associate is not recognised separately and is included in the amount recognised as investment
in associates.

Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or
decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate, adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the
Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment.

The difference in reporting dates of the associates and the Group is not more than three months.
Adjustments are made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that
date and the date of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The associate’s accounting
policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any
retaining investment at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate
upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from
disposal are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Impairment testing of non financial assets

At each consolidated statement of financial position date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
income.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment testing of non financial assets (continued)

For a non-financial asset, other than goodwill, in which impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of income.

Financial assets

Classification, initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss”, “loans and receivables” and “available for sale financial assets”. The classification
depends on the purpose for which financial assets were acquired and it is determined at initial
recognition.

Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated
statement of income.

A “regular way” purchase of financial assets is recognised using the trade date accounting. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame generally established by regulations or conventions in the market place.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, term deposits, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, trade accounts receivable, due from related parties and balances due
from associates and available for sale financial assets.

The Group has not classified any of its financial assets as held to maturity.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets held for trading and
financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term.
Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit and loss are designated
at their initial recognition date and only if the criteria under IAS 39 are satisfied. Financial assets at
fair value through profit and loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of income.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment. Amortised
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the interest rate method. The interest rate method amortisation and the
losses arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Available for sale financial assets

Available for sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to need for liquidity or in response to
changes in the market conditions.

After initial recognition, available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value with unrealised
gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss is recycled in the consolidated statement of income, or
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative loss is reclassified to the consolidated
statement of income.

Available for sale financial assets whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost
less impairment losses, if any.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

e The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e The Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

When the Group has transferred it rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is
deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and
that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications
that the borrowers or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

Available for sale financial assets

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale financial assets, objective evidence
would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the equity investment below its
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on those available for sale
financial assets previously recognised in the consolidated statement of income, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses
on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated statement of income; increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, impairment is assessed based on
the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the
consolidated statement of income.

Loans and advances

Loans and advances are subject to credit risk provision for loan impairment if there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the provision is
the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present value of
expected future cash flows, including amount recoverable from guarantee and collateral, discounted
based on the contractual interest rate. The amount of loss arising from impairment is taken to the
consolidated statement of income.
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at “fair value through
profit or loss” or “borrowings”. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at
initial recognition.

Allfinancial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw- own occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised
as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings (credit facilities and term loan), due to related
parties and accounts payable.

The Group classifies its financial liabilities as borrowings and does not classify any financial liabilities
at “fair value through profit or loss”.

Borrowings

Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Gains or losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income when liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process.

Interest expense

Allborrowing costs, other than those directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, are recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which
they are incurred.

Accounts payable

Liabilities are recognised for amount to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether
billed or not. Accounts payable and other liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated
statement of income.

Offset

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Equity, reserves and dividend payments

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs
associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium.

Statutory and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of current and prior period profits in
accordance with the requirements of the companies’ law and the Parent Company’s Articles of
Association.

Other components of equity include the following:

e foreign currency translation reserve — comprises foreign currency translation differences arising
from the translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into KD

e Fair value reserve — comprises gains and losses relating to available for sale financial assets

Retained earnings includes all current and prior period retained profits. All transactions with owners
of the parent are recorded separately within equity.

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the
dividends have been approved in the Annual General Meeting.

Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the Group
and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities (continued)

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based
on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties
associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as
awhole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are
disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

Treasury shares

The Parent Company’s holding in its own shares is accounted for as treasury shares. Such shares
are stated at cost as a deduction within equity and no cash dividends are distributed on these shares.

Gains resulting from the sale of treasury shares are taken directly to equity under “treasury shares
reserve”. Should the reserve fall short of any losses from the sale of treasury shares, the difference
is charged to retained earnings then reserves. Subsequent to this, should profits arise from sale
of treasury shares an amount is transferred to reserves then retained earnings equal to the loss
previously charged to these accounts. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of treasury
shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of
treasury shares.

Segment reporting

The Group has two operating segments: the real estate and investment segments. In identifying
these operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s significant services for each
segments. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires different
approaches and other resources. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its
financial statements. In addition, assets or liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currency translation

5.16.1 Functional and presentation currency
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The consolidated financial statements are presented in currency Kuwait Dinar (KD), which is also the
functional currency of the Parent Company. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group
entity, using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate).
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
remeasurement of monetary items denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are
recognised in consolidated statement of income. Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-
end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the exchange rates at the transaction date),
except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the exchange rates
at the date when fair value was determined.

Foreign operations

In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a
functional currency other than the KD are translated into KD upon consolidation. The functional
currency of the entities in the Group has remained unchanged during the reporting period.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the
reporting date. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity
have been treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing
rate. Income and expenses have been translated into KD at the average rate over the reporting
period. Exchange differences are charged/credited to other comprehensive income and recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the related
cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to consolidated statement of
income and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

End of service indemnity

The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is
based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum
service period in accordance with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The expected
costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded,
represents the amount payable to each employee as a result of termination on the reporting date

With respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group makes contributions to the Public Institution
for Social Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations
are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued)

5.18 Taxation

5.18.1 KFAS
The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit attributable to equity holders of the
Parent Company in accordance with the modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of
Directors’ resolution, which states that income from Kuwaiti shareholding associates and subsidiaries,
Board of Directors’ remuneration, transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for the
year when determining the contribution.

5.18.2 NLST
The National Labour Support Tax (NLST) is calculated at 2.5% of profit attributable to equity holders
of the Parent Company in accordance with the Law No. 19 for the year 2000.

5.18.3 Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent
Company in accordance with the Law No. 46 of 2006.

6. Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

6.1 Significant management judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
significant judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

6.1.1 Classification of financial instruments

Judgements are made in the classification of financial instruments based on management’s intention
at acquisition.

Classification of financial assets as fair value through income statement depends on how management
monitors the performance of these financial assets. The Group classifies financial assets as held for
trading if they are acquired primarily for the purpose of short term profit making. When they are not
classified as held for trading but have readily available fair values and the changes in fair values are
reported as part of profit or loss in the management accounts, they are classified as designated at
fair value through income statement.
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Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty ( continued )
Classification of financial instruments ( continued )

Classification of assets as loans and receivables depends on the nature of the asset. If the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive market and the intention is to receive fixed or
determinable payments the financial asset is classified as loans and receivables.

All other financial assets are classified as available for sale.

Classification of real estate

Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading,
property held for development or investment property.

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary
course of business.

The Group classifies property as property under development if it is acquired with the intention of
development.

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for
capital appreciation, or for undetermined future use.

Impairment of available for sale equity investments

The Group treats available for sale equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment
exists. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable judgment.

Estimates uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition
and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may
be substantially different

Impairment of investment in associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise
any impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at each reporting date
based on existence of any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the consolidated income
statement.
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Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty ( continued )
Fair value of unquoted financial instruments

e Valuation of unquoted financial assets

e Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on one of the following:

e recent arm’s length market transactions;

e current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same;

* earnings multiple;

e the expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and
risk characteristics; or

e price to book value model;

e Other valuation models.

Impairment losses on loans and advances

The group reviews defaulted loans and advances and on a quarterly basis to assess whether a
provision for impairment should be recorded in the consolidated statement of income. Considerable
judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash
flows when determining the level of provisions required. Such estimates are necessarily based on
assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of judgment and uncertainty, and actual
results may differ from what is estimated resulting in future changes to such provisions.

Valuation of investment properties

Fair value of investment properties have been assessed by an independent real estate appraiser. Two
main methods were used to determine the fair value of property interests in investment properties; (a)
formula based discounted cash flow analysis and (b) comparative analysis as follows:

a) Formula based discounted cash flow is based on a series of projected free cash flows supported
by the terms of any existing lease and other contracts and discounted at a rate that reflects the
risk of the asset.

b) Comparative analysis is based on the assessment made by an independent real estate appraiser
using values of actual deals transacted recently by other parties for properties in a similar location
and condition, and based on the knowledge and experience of the real estate appraiser.

Projects in progress

The Group is currently developing some of its leased investment properties and typically adds the
development costs to the book value of the underlying properties upon completion of the development
process. During the year, the Group has transferred completed projects amounting to KD 1,042,043
(KD 1,270,000 in 2012) to investment properties (note 8).
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Investment properties

2012
KD KD
Balance at 1 January 105,468,940 98,297,778
Additions 4,640,697 5,302,352
Transferred from projects in progress 1,042,043 1,270,000
Disposals (4,800,000) -
Change in fair value 6,461,857 598,810
Foreign currency translation difference (31,572) -
Balance at 31 December 112,781,965 105,468,940

Investment properties of KD 90,884,000 (31 December 2012: KD 88,155,000) are pledged against
credit facilities and term loan from a local bank (note 20 and 21).

The fair value was determined based on the market comparable approach that reflects recent
transaction priced for similar properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use.

The fair value of the local investment properties were evaluated by independent accredited external
valuer and a local bank where the management has approved the lower valuation. The foreign
investment properties have been valued by independent external licensed valuers. The management
has valued all its investment properties on an individual basis at the lowest of the evaluations received
from independent valuers at 31 December 2013 and 2012.

During the year the group purchased investment properties amounting to KD 3,491,370 (31 December
2012: KD 1,0983,909) from related parties.

During the year, the group sold investment properties with a total sale value of KD6,225,413
which resulted in a sale gain of KD1,425,413 (31 December 2012: Nil) that was recognised in the
consolidated statement of income for the year.
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Investments in associates

Details of the Parent Company’s associates are set out below as at the year end and equity therein:

Name of associate m%gf;;ét?gn
(&éj‘gvsend)Bqumg Materials Manufacturing — KSC Kuwait
National Slaughters Houses — KSC (Closed) Kuwait
First Slaughters Company — KSC (Closed) Kuwait
ABC Real Estate Company - WLL Kuwait
IFA Hotels and Resorts Co. - SAL Lebanon

Summarised financial information of Group’s material associate are set out below:

Assets

Current assets
Non-current assets
Liabilities

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Revenues
Expenses
Net profit
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

The remaining associates are considered immaterial to the Group

Equity interest

2013 2012
[

%

ABC Real Estate Company - WLL

Measurement
method

%
24.58

44.22

20.51

44

49

2012
KD

20,338,328
2,955,772

6,716,163
7,647,922

1,052,578
429,005
623,573

623,573

Equity method
of accounting

Equity method
of accounting

Equity method
of accounting

Equity method
of accounting

Equity method
of accounting

17,514,523
4,997,230

7,346,585
6,387,735

1,435,866
494,344
941,522

941,522
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Investments in associates ( continued )

Reconciliation of the above summarized financial information of the material associate with the
carrying amount in the consolidated statement of financial position is set out below:

ABC Real Estate Company - WLL

2012
KD

KD
Net assets of the material associate 9,401,005 8,301,441
Group’s share of net assets 44.22%
Carrying amount 3,862,070
Summarized financial information (immaterial associates)

2012

KD
Aggregate share in immaterial associates’ assets and liabilities
Assets 4,007,042 3,972,124
Liabilities 405,449 463,344

Group’s share of net assets 3,601,593 3,508,780
Share of results of immaterial associates 307,197 370,020

During the year the dividends received from associates were KD 214,374 (2012: KD 35,488).

Available for sale investments

2012
KD
Local quoted securities 28,629,921 27,944,196
Local unquoted securities 6,975,554 7,108,914
Foreign unquoted securities 13,065,762 10,414,116
Managed funds 237,820 179,929
45,647,155

Investments of KD 1,095,888 (31 December 2012: KD 1,099,270) are included at cost as their fair
value could not be reliably measured. The Group’s management believes that the available information
for those investments has not indicated any impairment in value.
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10. Available for sale investments ( continued)

The group’s management recognized an impairment of KD 6,380,095 (31 December 2012: KD
2,179,265) in the consolidated statement of income during the year. The management has performed
analysis of the remaining investments which indicated that there is no further impairment in value.

The above investments include investments managed by a related party of KD 3,511,000 (31
December 2012: KD 5,556,376).

Also, available for sale investments have been purchased of KD 2,250,000 (31 December 2012: KD
300,000).

11. Balances due from associates

The Group provided cash amounts to ABC Real Estate Company — WLL, (Kuwait) and IFA Hotels
and Resorts Company - L.S.C. — (Lebanon) amounting to KD 2,934,165 (31 December 2012: KD
1,900,000) and KD 4,254,800 (31 December 2012: KD 5,892,875) respectively to support the share
capital of those associates, provided those amounts are recovered when cash liquidity is available
there with. These balances were recognised under balances due from associates in the consolidated
statement of financial position. These balances represents amounts paid to support the capital of
these companies and these amounts do not have a fixed maturity or interest and it is not a loan in
any way. These balances will be recovered at the availability of cash at those companies or may be
used to increase the capital of those companies if necessary.

12. Advance payment for purchase of investment property

During the year 2012, the Group has signed an initial agreement for the purchase of investment
property in UAE, which represents the amount of KD 3,428,226 as an advance payment for that
contract. In 2013 the Group finalized the purchase transaction of investment properties of KD
3,006,900.
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13. Due from/ to related parties

2012

KD
Due from related parties
Emcor Facilities Services W.L.L - Kuwait 6,250 -
International Financial Advisers Co. - KSCC 331,690 344,987
International Resorts Co. - KSCC 741,548 1,079,760
Al-Wafer for Market Services — K.S.C 60,084
IFA Food Company — WLL 3,400

Provision for doubtful debts 500,000, (222,033
1,266,198
Due to related parties
IFA for Advisory Services Co. W.L.L 86,162 32,504
Asgad Al-Kuwait for General Trading and Contracting Company — WLL 150 150

32,654

14. Accounts receivables and other debt balances

2013 2012

KD KD
Accounts receivable 2,151,700 1,804,392
Provision for doubtful debts (800,000, 800,000
1,004,392
Prepaid expenses 25,239
Refundable deposits 6,835
Other debit balances 399,182
1,435,648

Trade accounts receivable are non-interest bearing and are generally mature within a period of 30 to
90 days. A full provision has been made for overdue receivables.

15. Term deposits

Term deposits represents deposits with local and foreign banks with a maturity over a period
exceeding three months from the date of the placement. The average effective interest rate on term
deposits ranges 1.2% t01.25% per annum (2012: ranges from 0.75% to1.25% per annum).
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Cash and cash equivalents

2012
KD KD
Cash and bank balances 1,163,432 1,681,602
Cash in investment portfolios managed by others 248,929 783,480
Short time deposits maturing within 3 months from placement = 2,157,618
Cash and cash equivalents 4,522,700

Capital and share premium

At 31 December 2013 and 2012, the authorized, issued and fully paid up share capital of the Parent
Company comprised of 906,712,940 shares of 100 fils each. All shares are cash shares.

Share premium balance is not available for distribution.

Treasury shares

As at 31 December 2013 the Parent Company holds 1,373,091 treasury shares equivalent to
0.151% of the total issued share capital (31 December 2012: 1,373,091 treasury shares equivalent
to 0.1561%). The market value of the treasury shares amounted to KD 131,817(31 December 2012:
KD 66,595). Reserves equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares have been earmarked as non-
distributable.

Statutory and voluntary reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10%
of the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company before contributions
to KFAS, NLST, and Zakat provision and director remuneration has been transferred to statutory
reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve
totals 50% of the paid up share capital. Distribution of the reserve is limited to the amount required to
enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of paid up share capital to be made in years when retained
earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend of that amount.

In accordance with the parent company’s articles of Association 10% of the profit for the year
attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company (before contributions to KFAS, NLST, Zakat
provision and director remuneration has been attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company
transferred to statutory reserve. There are no restrictions on the distribution of the voluntary reserve.
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Credit facilities

This represents Islamic Murabaha finance agreements which are payable in equal semi-annual
installments and carry annual profit rates at 2.5% to 3% (31 December 2012: 2.5% to 3%) over the
Central Bank of Kuwait discount rate. Instalments due within one year from the date of consolidated
financial position are included under current liabilities. The credit facilities are granted by an Islamic
financial institution in Kuwait against the security of certain investment properties (note 8).

Term loan

During 2012 the Group has obtained a term loan amounting to KD 5,226,000 from a certain bank
operating in Kuwait at an interest rate of 3% over the Central Bank of Kuwait discount rate. The loan
is repaid in equal half-yearly installments starting on 31 December 2013 and ending 30 June 2018
with the final installment of KD 2,607,000. The loan granted to the Group is secured against mortgage
of investment properties (note 8). Installments due within one year from the date of consolidated
financial position are included under current liabilities.

Provision for lease commitment

Provision for lease contracts commitment represents the rental value due from the Group for the
period from 3 March 2008 to 31 December 2013.

Provision charge for lease contracts commitment for the current year amounting to KD 2,782,669
(31 December 2012: KD 2,101,015) is included in operating costs.

The Parent Company won a contract for the project of the management, development, operation
and maintenance of Souk Al-Kabeer and Souk Al-Kuwait real estate properties for a period of ten
years. The final agreements for those properties have been signed on 1 October 2013.

As per this agreement the parent company has undertaken to maintain and renovate these buildings
during operating period and has issued letters of guarantee of KD 7,049,120 for the same.

The parent company shall pay rental amount of KD 4,812,000 to be paid as of 1 January 2015.
The total rental amount has been charged to full contract term as of the date of signing the final
agreements of the properties.
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24,

Accounts payable and other credit balances

2012
KD KD
*Accounts payable 4,018,087 2,830,862
Accrued expenses and leave 375,015 369,827
KFAS 63,775 12,460
NLST 2,420,077 2,242,979
Zakat 114,524 43,685
Accrued dividends 860,112 860,667
**Payments received in advance on sale of investment properties 859,748 1,895,034
Directors’ remuneration 70,000 -
Other credit balances 51,556

8,307,070

* During the year, the procedures of selling certain plots of land in Mahboula area in the State of
Kuwait were completed, which the Group share its ownership with other parties. This has resulted in
a profit of KD 725,413 for the Group included under “profits from sale of investment properties” set
out in note (8). The amounts received as a result of such sale transaction were recognized also, on
behalf of the other parties which own these plots of land, within accounts payable above.

**The payments received in advance represent an amount received in advance against preliminary
sale contracts to sell lands located in Mahboula, State of Kuwait, held under joint ownership with third
parties, and all procedures and transactions for those lands are in the process of being completed
and the remaining payments due shall be subsequently received.

Reversal of provisions no longer needed

During the year the Parent Company has completed all procedures related to the settlement of the
outstanding balance payable by Al Bab Holding Company KSC (Closed), where Al Bab Holding
Company KSC (Closed) has transferred shares from local companies to the Parent Company. The
settlement transaction has resulted in reversal of a part of the specific provision against the receivable
of Al Bab Holding Company KSC (Closed) of KD 532,126 which was included in the consolidated
statement if income for the year.

During the year, the parent company has written back the provision made against its share in the
losses of Hamburg Airport Project of KD 1,091,555 as this provision is no longer required.
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Provision for contingent liabilities

During the previous year, the Group made a bid to the low-cost houses, which had been invited for
by Public Authority for Housing Welfare, where this tender was awarded to the Group and therefore
a letter of guarantee of KD 1,500,000 regarding this tender was submitted. Subsequently, during the
previous year, the state has made amendments to the terms of this tender, including the possibility
of re-issuing this tender, and it has liquidated the amount of guarantee provided. Accordingly, the
Group has made a provision for the full amount of the bank guarantee. Currently, there is discussion
between the Group’s management and the Authority to recover the value of the bank guarantee
as an initial proposition or maintain the bank guarantee to re-issue the project again, or that the
company implement the project according to the amendments made to the terms of Bid under the
legislative amendment.

Basic and diluted earnings per share

2012

KD
Profit for the year — KD 1,726,653
We\ght)ed average number of shares outstanding during the year (excluding treasury 905,339,849 905,339,849
shares; ’ ’ ' '
Basic and diluted earnings per share - Fils 1.90

Basic and diluted earnings per share has been calculated by dividing the profit for the current year by
the weighted average number of share, less treasury shares outstanding during the year.

Related party transactions

Related parties represent associates, directors and key management personnel of the Group,
and other related parties such as major shareholders and companies in which directors and key
management personnel of the Parent Company are principal owners or over which they are able
to exercise significant influence or joint control. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are
approved by the Group’s management.
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Related party transactions (continued)

Details of significant related party transactions and balances are as follows:

2012
KD KD

Consolidated statement of financial position:

Available for sale investments managed by third party (Note 10). 3,511,000 5,656,376
Balances due from associates (Note 11) 7,188,965 7,792,875
Advance payment on purchase of investment property (Note 12) = 3,428,226
Due from related parties (Note 13) 579,488 1,266,198
Due to related parties (Note 13) 86,312 32,654

Amounts due to, from related parties are interest free and are payable, receivable on demand.

2012
KD KD
Consolidated statement of income
Operating costs 500,153 413,286
General and administrative expenses 205,000 205,000
Directors’ remuneration 70,000 -
Reversal of provisions no longer needed (note 24) 532,126 -
Provision for doubtful debts (note 13) 277,967 222,033
2012
KD KD
Other transactions:
Purchase of investment properties 3,491,370 1,093,909
Investment properties transferred to the Group at fair value for debt settlement - 441,461
Purchase of available for sale investments 2,250,000 300,000

Compensation of key management personnel

The compensation of key management personnel and directors during the year are as follows

2012
KD KD
Salaries and other short-term benefits 275,076 198,461
End of service indemnity paid 30,000 24,000
305,076
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General Assembly

The annual general assembly of the shareholders held on 16 May 2013 approved the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 without dividend.

For the current year the board of directors have proposed cash dividends to the shareholders for the
year ended 31 December 2013 at 5 fils per share and the directors’ remuneration of KD 70,000 . This
proposal is subject to the approval of the general assembly of the shareholders.

Contingent liabilities and commitments

Contingent liabilities at the consolidated financial position date are as follows:

2012
KD KD
Contingent liabilities
Letters of guarantee 7,253,294 701,111
Capital commitments
Projects in progress 6,694,990

The parent company won a contract of management, development and maintenance of Souk Al-
Kabeer and Souk Al-Kuwait real estate properties for ten years. The final agreements has been
signed on 1 October 2013 and the parent company has issued letters of guarantee of KD 7,049,120
for management of these properties (note 22).

This agreement has resulted in capital commitments on the parent company for maintenance,
development and operating the properties of KD 6,694,990 paid within three years from the date of
signing the final agreement.

Segment information

The Group’s primary basis of segment reporting is by business segments, which consist of real
estate activity and investment activity.

An analysis of total revenues, results, assets and total liabilities in respect of each of these segments
is as follows:

At 31 December 2013

Segment revenues

Share of results of associates

Change in fair value of investment properties
Financing costs

Impairment loss on available for sale investments

Profit/(loss) for the year
Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets
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Segment information (continued)

Real estate Investment Total
KD KD KD
At 31 December 2012
Total revenues 11,478,962 526,814 12,005,776
Share of results of associates - 147,224 147,224
Change in fair value of investment properties 598,810 - 598,810
Financing costs (2,413,594) - (2,413,594)
Impairment loss on available for sale investments - (2,179,265) (2,179,265)
Profit/(loss) for the year 3,231,880 (1,505.227) 1.726.653
Total assets 124,125,465 53.047.550 177.173.015
Total liabilities (61.212,211) (1.964.364) (63.176.575)
Net assets 62,913,254 51,083,186 113,996,440

Geographical segments:

Financial information about geographical segments for the year ended 31 December are set out
below:

2013

KD KD

Inside Kuwait 14,067,209 145,256,014
Outside Kuwait 41,069,324

2012
Revenues Assets
KD KD
Inside Kuwait 11,442,687 138,100,834
Outside Kuwait 463,089 39,072,181

12,005,776 177,173,015

Risk management objectives and policies

The Parent Company’s activities expose it to variety of financial risks: e.g. market risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk.

The Board of Directors policies for reducing each of the risks are discussed below.

The Parent Company does not use derivative financial instruments based on future speculations.
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Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The Parent Company mainly operates in the GCC and other Middle Eastern countries and thus
is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from various foreign currency exposures, primarily with
respect to US Dollar and Euro. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
and recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Kuwaiti Dinar cash flows are monitored
in accordance with the Group’s risk management policies. Generally, the Group’s risk management
procedures distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due within twelve months) from
longer-term cash flows.

The Group had the following significant exposures denominated in foreign currencies, and translated
into Kuwaiti Dinar with the closing rates at the end of the year:

2012
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
KD KD
US Dollar 20,402,868 471,300 7,481,985
Euro 80,369 - 1,774,426
GBP 790,453 89,600
UAE Dirham 16,304,823 3,564,258

The foreign currency sensitivity is determined based on 2% (2012: 2%) increase or decrease in
exchange rate. There has been no change during the year in the methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis.

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had strengthened against the foreign currencies, assuming the above sensitivity,
then this would have the following impact on the results for the year:

2012

KD KD
Result for the year 343,512 161,932
Equity 408,057 25,296

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had weakened against the foreign currencies, assuming the above sensitivity,
then the impact on the Group’s results for the year would have been equally the reverse as disclosed
above.

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of
the transactions. Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group’s
exposure to the foreign currency risk.
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31. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
31.1  Market risk (continued)

b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability
or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group has no significant interest bearing assets other
than fixed deposits. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its borrowings, whether
they are at fixed or floating interest rate.. The risk is managed by the Group maintaining an appropriate
mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings. The Board has established levels of interest rate risk
by setting limits on the interest rate gaps for stipulated periods.

Provisions are monitored on a regular basis and hedging strategies used to ensure positions are
maintained within established limits.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the result for the year and equity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates on the Group’s borrowings of +1% and 1% (2012: +1% and —1%)
retrospectively from the beginning of the year. These changes are considered to be reasonably
possible based on observation of current market condition and rates.

2013 2012

+1% %1
KD KD

Result for the year (412,683) (428,927)

There has been no change during the year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the
sensitivity analysis.

)] Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its equity investments. Equity investments
are classified as at fair value through statement of income or as available for sale.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in securities, the Group diversifies its investment
portfolios. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Parent
Company.

The below table shows the sensitivity analysis for the Group with regard to its investment securities,
and it is determined based on possible price risks at the reporting date. There has been no change
during the year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis.
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31. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
31.1  Market risk (continued)
c) Price risk (continued)

If prices of financial securities had been changed by +5% with all other variables held constant, the
effect on the result for the year and equity would have been as follows.

Result for the year Equity
31
31 December 31 December 31 December
December
2012 2013
2012
KD KD
Investment at fair value through
1,477
statement of income
Available for sale investments 2,445,453 2,282,358
1,477 2,282,358

31.2  Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation
and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Group credit policy regarding exposure to
credit risk requires monitoring these risks on an ongoing basis. The Group seeks to avoid undue
concentrations of risks with individuals or Groups of clients in specific locations or businesses through
diversification of its activities. It also obtains security when appropriate.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised
at the consolidated financial position date, as summarized below:

2012
KD KD
Balances due from associates 7,188,965 7,792,875
Due from related parties 579,488 1,266,198
Accounts receivables (excluding prepayments) 2,458,479 1,428,813
Term deposits 4,998,337 -
Cash and cash equivalents 1,412,361 4,522,700
16,632,630 15,010,586
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31. Risk management objectives and policies (continued) 31. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
31.2  Credit risk (continued) 31.2  Credit risk (continued)
Geographic concentration of maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure to credit risk
Other Middle USA, Europe
An analysis of the Group’s financial assets before and after taking account of collateral held or other Kuwait ace Ciisntter"gs th”;S fotal
credit enhancements is as follows:
KD KD KD KD KD
2012
Gross exposure
[0}} 2012 Balances due from associates 1,900,000 - 5,892,875 - 7,792,875
KD KD Due from related parties 1,266,198 - - - 1,266,198
Accounts receivables (excluding
Balances due from associates 7,188,965 7,792,875 prepayments) 1,871,500 B B 57,313 1,428,813
Dus from related parties AL 1,266,198 Cash and cash et 2,949,384 136,032 1,437,284 4,522,700
Accounts receivables (excluding prepayments) 2,453,479 1,428,813 ash and cash equivalents : ' : ! ' '
Time deposits 4,998,337 -
Cash and cash equivalents 1,412,361 4,522,700 L. .
31.3  Liquidity risk
G hi trati § . t dit risk Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To limit
eographic concentration of maximum exposure to credit ris this risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources, and it manages assets with liquidity
in mind, and monitors liquidity on a regular basis.
The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at the reporting date by geographic region The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities based on contractual
was: undiscounted repayment obligations.
The liquidity profile of financial liabilities reflects the projected cash flows which includes future interest
payments over the life of these financial liabilities.
Other Middle USA, Europe
Eastern and
Countries others Maturity profile of liabilities at 31 December 2013 and 2012:
2013
1-3 3-12 Over
Balances due from associates 2,934,165 4,254,800 7,188,965 TS e 5 years
Due from related parties 579,488 579,488
Accounts receivables (excluding 2.105,040 2,453,479 2013
prepayments) o
Liabilities
Term deposits 4,900,000 4,998,337 Credit facilities 11,871,666 26,187,500 38,059,166
Cash and cash equivalents 831,858 1,412,361 Term loans 611,100 4,570,650 5,181,750
Provision for lease 4,594,875 5,664,206 10,259,081
commitment
Other provisions 471,300 - 471,300
Due to related parties 86,312 - 86,312
Accounts payable and other _ 9,083,750 _ _ 9,083,750
credit balances
| -1 26719003 | 6422356 ] - | 63,141,359
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31. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

31.3  Liquidity risk (continued)

1~ 3 months 3-12 1-5 Over
months years 5 years Total
KD KD KD KD KD

2012
Liabilities
Credit facilities - 1,403,333 38,240,833 - 39,644,166
Term loans - 307,005 5,206,425 B 5,518,430
Provision for lease commitment - - 9,979,821 - 9,979,821
Other provisions 1,208,483 58,834 - 1,267,317
Due to related parties - 32,654 - - 32,654
hocounts pavable and other - 8,307,070 - - 8,307,070

11,258,545 53,485,913 - 64,744,458

32. Fair value estimation

The fair value represents the amount through which an asset is exchangeable or a liability can be
settled. In the opinion of the Group’s management, except for the available for sale investments
valued at cost for the reasons stated in note 10, the carrying value of the financial assets and
liabilities as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 approximate its fair value.

The Parent Company'’s carrying value of the financial assets and liabilities are stated in the consolidated

statement of financial position as follows:
Fair value of financial instruments

2013

Historical

cost

Financial assets

Cash and cash
equivalents

Term deposits
Investment at fair value

through statement of
income

Accounts receivables
and other debt
balances

Due from related
parties

Balances due from
associates
Available for sale
investments

2012
Amortized Fair Historical Amortized
value value cost value
KD KD KD KD

1,412,361 - - 4522700

4,998,337 -
29,545 - -
2,477,614 - - 1,435,648
- - 1,266,198
- - 7,792,875
44,647,885 1,099,270 -

47,885,760 1,095,888 44,577,430 1,099,270 15,017,421

79

HlH AQA RAT Annual Report 2013

KUWAIT REAL ESTATE COMPANY K.P.S.C. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATE OF KUWAIT

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

32.  Fair value estimation (continued)

2012
Fair Historical Amortized
value cost value
KD KD KD
Financial liabilities
Due.to related 86,312 R R 32,654
parties
Accounts payable
and other credit 9,088,750 - - 8,307,070
balances
Provision for lease 10,259,081 R R 9,979,821
commitment
Term loan 4,935,000 = — 5,226,000
Credit facilities 36,333,333 - - 37,666,666
Other provisions 471,300 - - 1,267,317
Provision for
583,970 - - 697,047

indemnity

[ ] -1 etmems - - 63176575
——— | ————

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The following table provides
an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
Grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

Level for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and
Level Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset

or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest
level of significant input to the fair value measurement.
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32.

Fair value estimation (continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

The financial and non-financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial
position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

31 December 2013
Level 2

Financial assets:
Investments at fair value trough statement
of income:

Quoted foreign securities

Available for sale investments:
Quoted securities 28,629,921 = 28,629,921
Managed funds 237,820 237,820
Unquoted securities - 18,945,428 18,945,428
Non-financial assets:
Investment properties
112,781,965 = 112,781,965
I

28,702,51

31 December 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD
Financial assets:
Investments at fair value trough statement
of income:
Trading
Quoted foreign securities 29,645 - - 29,545
Available for sale investments:
Quoted securities 27,944,196 - - 27,944,196
Managed funds - 179,929 - 179,929
Unquoted securities - - 16,423,760 16,423,760
Non-financial assets:
Investment properties
- 104,375,031 - 104,375,031
27,973,741 104,554,960 16,423,760 148,952,461

There have been no transfers between levels 1 & 2 during the reporting period.

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value
measurement of level 2 and level 3 financial instruments, as well as the inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs and fair value, are set out below.
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32.
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Fair value estimation (continued)

Available for sale investments:

Valuation of unquoted equity investments classified under level 3 is normally based on price to book
value technique, dividend yield method and external valuations with marketability discount provided
in the range of 20% to 30%.

Gains or losses recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the year are included in loss
on sale of investments at fair value through statement of income, Change in fair value of investments
at fair value through statement of income and gain on sale of available for sale investments.

Changing inputs to the level 3 valuations to reasonably possible alternative assumptions would not
change significantly amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of income, total assets, total
liabilities or total equity.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

Fair value measurements

The Group measurement of financial assets and liabilities classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques
inputs that are not based on observable market date. The financial instruments within this level can
be reconciled from beginning to ending balances as follows:

Available
for sale
investments
2013
KD
Opening balance 16,423,760
Additions 3,140,405
Disposals (168,033)
Change in fair value (449,552)
Impairment

Ending balance

The sensitivity analysis of a reasonably possible change in one significant unobservable input, holding
other inputs constant, of level 3 financial instruments is provided below:
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32. Fair value estimation (continued)
Fair value measurements (continued)
Available for sale investment (level 3)

31 December 2013 Profit or loss Other comprehensive income

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

KD KD

If marketability discount changes by 5%
with all other factors constant, the impact 947,102 (947,102)
on the profit and equity would be:

Changing inputs to the level 3 valuations to reasonably possible alternative assumption would not
change significantly amounts recognised in statement of income, total assets or total liabilities or
total equity.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged
compared to the previous reporting period.

I.  Quoted securities

All the listed equity securities are publicly traded on a recognized stock exchange. Fair value has
been determined by referring to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date.

Il. Managed funds

The underlying investments of managed funds primarily comprise of quoted and unquoted securities.
The fair value of the quoted underlying securities has been determined by reference to their quoted bid
prices at the reporting date. The fair value of the unquoted underlying securities has been determined
using valuation techniques that are normally used by fund managers. All significant inputs into the
model are based on observable market prices.

Ill. Unquoted securities
Unlisted securities are measured at fair value estimated using various models like discounted cash
flow model, which includes some assumptions that are not supportable by observable market prices

or rates or the latest financial statements or information available on these investments the future
financial flows of which are unpredictable.
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34.
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Capital risk management

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to provide adequate return to its shareholders through the optimization of the capital
structure.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic
conditions and other variables including risks related to the Group assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of the following:

2012
KD KD
Credit facilities (note 20) 36,333,333 37,666,666
Term loan (note 21) 4,935,000 5,226,000
less: cash and cash equivalent and term loans (notes 15 & 16) (6,410,698) (4,522,700)
Net debt 34,857,635
Equity 113,996,440

33.7%

Net debt to equity

Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation. This
reclassification did not affect the previously reported results, total assets, equity and cash flows.
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